FIRST ORDER DIFFERENTIAL EQUATION WITH PIECEWISE CONSTANT ARGUMENT

MOHD SHAHRULLIZAM BIN AHMAD

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Master of Science

> Faculty of Science Universiti Teknologi Malaysia

> > JANUARY 2020

DEDICATION

To my beloved family, lecturers and my friends, thank you for your great support in term of physically and mentally.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Alhamdulillah. All praise belongs to Allah The Lord of the universe.

I am grateful to Allah S.W.T for giving me the strength to complete this dissertation successfully. This dissertation would not have been possible without the guidance and the help of several individuals who, in one way or another, contributed and extended their valuable assistance in the preparation and completion of this study. First and foremost, I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mukhiddin Muminov and my co-supervisor Prof. Dr. Ali Hassan Bin Mohd Murid for their valuable guidance, motivation and continuous support.

I gratefully acknowledge the funding sources of my Masters, Bahagian Tajaan dan Pembiayaan, Ministry of Education (MOE) which approve my study leave and awarding me a HLP scholarship that made my Masters work possible.

Special thanks to my parents and my friends for understanding and moral support who had assisted me in completing the dissertation. Thank you very much for the help and support.

ABSTRACT

In recent years, differential equation with piecewise constant argument (DEPCA) have started to play crucial roles of the phenomena in the real world. There are many problems occurred involving piecewise constant arguments in the field of mathematics, science and engineering. However, behaviour of the system with piecewise constant arguments is more complex when compared to the corresponding continuous regular systems. This study focused on solving first order nonlinear differential equations with piecewise constant argument. There are two types of differential equation which are the first order differential equation and the Bernoullitype equations. The mathematical approaches are based on the DEPCA of simple forms, especially in the form of [t] to which a continuous system is considered directly over a unit interval. In order to solve these equations, the condition of existence and uniqueness are used to determine both the types of equations for some class functions of g. Thus, an explicit form of solutions for a certain class of Bernoulli-type equations was solved indirectly by using the previous approached. At the same time, the periodicity conditions for these solutions were established. Several examples were explained for both types of differential equation and some graphs were obtained by using MATHEMATICA software.

ABSTRAK

Kebelakangan ini, persamaan pembezaan dengan pemalar hujah cebis demi cebis mula memainkan peranan yang sangat penting dalam fenomena realiti kehidupan. Terdapat banyak masalah yang berlaku melibatkan cebisan hujah malar dalam bidang matematik, sains dan kejuruteraan. Bagaimanapun, tingkah laku sistem dengan cebisan hujah malar adalah lebih kompleks jika dibandingkan dengan sistem tetap yang berterusan. Kajian ini berfokus untuk menyelesaikan persamaan pembezaan bukan linear peringkat pertama dengan pemalar hujah cebis demi cebis. Terdapat dua jenis persamaan pembezaan, iaitu pembezaan peringkat pertama dan persamaan jenis Bernoulli. Pendekatan matematik adalah berdasarkan DEPCA berbentuk mudah, terutamanya dalam bentuk [t] dimana sistem berterusan dianggap secara langsung melalui selang unit. Untuk menyelesaikan persamaan ini, syarat kewujudan dan keunikan digunakan kepada kedua-dua persamaan untuk beberapa kelas fungsi g. Oleh itu, bentuk penyelesaian yang ekplisit untuk kelas persamaan jenis Bernoulli telah diselesaikan secara tidak langsung dengan menggunakan pendekatan yang terdahulu. Pada masa yang sama, syarat keberkalaan bagi penyelesaian ini telah dihasilkan. Beberapa contoh telah dibincangkan bagi kedua-dua jenis persamaan pembezaan dan beberapa graph diperolehi dengan menggunakan perisian MATHEMATICA.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE

	DECLARATION						
	DEDICATION						
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT						
	ABSTRACT						
	ABST	RAK	viii				
	TABLE OF CONTENTS						
	LIST OF TABLES						
	LIST OF FIGURES						
	LIST	OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv				
	LIST	OF SYMBOLS	XV				
CHAPTEI	R 1	INTRODUCTION	1				
	1.1	Introduction	1				
	1.2	Problem Background	2				
	1.3	Problem Statement	3				
	1.4	Research Objective					
	1.5	Scope of Study					
	1.6	Significance of the Study					
	1.7 Research Methodology						
	1.8 Dissertation Organization						
CHAPTER 2		LITERATURE REVIEW	7				
	2.1	Introduction	7				
	2.2	Differential Equation with Piecewise Constant Argument	7				
	2.3	Differential Equation with Piecewise Constant Argument and Impulsive Equations	12				
		2.3.1 Existence Condition	13				

2.4	.4 A Modal of Monopoly with Lags in the Planning Production Activity		
	2.4.1 The Monopoly Models	15	
	2.4.2 Monopoly Model with Learning	16	
2.5	Conclusion	17	
CHAPTER 3 EQUATION A	SOLUTION OF FIRST ORDER DIFFERENTIAL ND BERNOULLI'S TYPE EQUATION	19	
3.1	Introduction	19	
	3.1.1 Uniqueness Condition	19	
3.2	Solution of First Order Differential Equation	20	
3.3	On Periodic Solutions	23	
3.4	Bernoulli's Equation	27	
3.5	Solution of Bernoulli Type Equation	29	
3.6	Conclusion	31	
CHAPTER 4 DIFFERENTIA	NUMERICAL SOLUTION OF FIRST ORDER AL EQUATION AND BERNOULLI'S TYPE	22	
LQUATION A 1	Introduction	33	
4.1 1 2	Examples of First Order Differential Equation	33	
2 1 3	On Periodic Solutions	45	
ч.5 Д Д	Examples for Bernoulli Type Equation		
4.5	Conclusion	66	
CHAPTER 5	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	67	
CHAPTER 5 5.1	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS Introduction	67 67	
CHAPTER 5 5.1 5.2	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS Introduction Summary of Significant Findings and Conclusion	67 67 67	
5.1 5.2 5.3	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS Introduction Summary of Significant Findings and Conclusion Conclusion	67 67 67 68	
CHAPTER 5 5.1 5.2 5.3 REFERENCES	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS Introduction Summary of Significant Findings and Conclusion Conclusion	67 67 67 68 71	

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE NO.

TITLE

PAGE

11

Table 2.1	Work	done	for	Differential	Equations	with	Piecewise	
	Constant Arguments							

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE NO	. TITLE	PAGE
Figure 1.1	Research Methodology	5
Figure 4.1	The solution of $x(t)$ of equation (4.1) – (4.2) with initial condition $x(0) = 1$.	34
Figure 4.2	The solution of $x(t)$ of equation (4.3) – (4.4) with initial condition $x(0) = 1$.	37
Figure 4.3	The solution of $x(t)$ of equation (4.5) – (4.6) with initial condition $x(0) = 1$.	39
Figure 4.4	The solution of equation (4.7) - (4.8) with initial condition $x(0) = 1$.	40
Figure 4.5	The solution of equation (4.9) - (4.10) with initial value $x(0) = 1$	42
Figure 4.6	The solution of equation (4.11) - (4.12) with initial value $x(0) = \alpha$ and $\alpha = 1$.	44
Figure 4.7	The solution of equation (4.13) - (4.14) with initial value $x(0) = \alpha$ and $\alpha = 2$.	44
Figure 4.8	Periodic solution of equation $(4.14) - (4.15)$ with the initial condition $x(0) = -1$	46
Figure 4.9	Periodic solution of equation $(4.16) - (4.18)$ with the initial condition $x(0) = 2$	48
Figure 4.10	The solution of $x(t)$ of equation (4.16) – (4.18)	48
Figure 4.11	Periodic solution of equation (4.19) – (4.20) with the initial condition $x(0) = -1$ and $\alpha = -5$	49
Figure 4.12	Periodic solution of equation (4.21) with the initial condition $x(0) = 2$ and $\alpha = 3$	50
Figure 4.13	Periodic solution of equation $(4.22) - (4.23)$ with the initial condition $x(0) = 1$	51
Figure 4.14	The solution of $x(t)$ of equation (4.22) – (4.23)	51
Figure 4.15	Solution of equation (4.24) – (4.25) with the initial condition $x(0) = 1$ and $n = 2$	53

Figure 4.16	Solution of equation (4.26) – (4.27) with the initial condition $x(0) = 1$ and $n = 4$	55
Figure 4.17	Solution of equation (4.28) – (4.29) with the initial condition $x(0) = 1$ and $n = 2$	57
Figure 4.18	Solution of equation (4.30) – (4.31) with the initial condition $x(0) = 1$ and $n = 2$	59
Figure 4.19	Solution of equation (4.32) – (4.33) with the initial condition $x(0) = 2$ and $n = 6$	62
Figure 4.20	Solution of equation (4.35) – (4.38) with the initial condition $x(0) = 0$	66

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

DEPCA - Differential Equation with Piecewise Constant Argument

LIST OF SYMBOLS

[t] - Greatest Function

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

Differential equations with piecewise constant argument (DEPCA) are known for producing many mathematical models used to describe many phenomena in real life. In these equations, the derivatives of the unknown functions depend on not just the time t before t. Since this is essentially expressing the derivatives on terms of the solution at discrete points of time before t, it is usually referred to as a hybrid system, other examples of the application of these equations to the problems of biology, cellular neural networks and mechanical systems can be in [1-4].

DEPCA has been under intensive investigation for the last twenty years. The first studies in this field have been given in [5,6], after this, stability, contractivity and existence of periodic solutions. The general theory and basic results for DEPCA have been thoroughly investigated in [7]. Nowadays, much research has been focused on the numerical solutions of EPCA, including convergence[8], stability[9] and oscillation[10]. However, we can't find any results concerning the approximate analytical solution of DEPCA have been published.

In general, a system of piecewise constant argument is unique compared to corresponding continuous regular systems. The complete solutions of the DEPCA are usually based on the continuity at the point joining the neighboring intervals. Therefore, the solutions of the differential equations governing the DEPCA combine the features of both differential and difference equations. The overwhelming majority of the investigations in the field of the DEPCA are pure mathematical approaches.

1.2 Problem Background

Since the beginning of 1980, DEPCA have become a major attraction to researchers in mathematics, science and engineering. This field has long been extensively developed and expanded to areas such as biomedicine, chemistry, mechanical engineering, physics, civil engineering, and aerodynamical engineering. This phenomenon is closely related in the field of physics and engineering systems to stepwise or piecewise constant variables or motion under piecewise constant forces. In mathematical forms, it is used for first or second order differential equations or systems DEPCAs.

DEPCAs are encountered in biological phenomena [11,12], the stabilization of hybrid control systems with feedback discrete controller [13], or damped oscillators [14]. Later, several authors discussed some articles related to stability, oscillation properties, and the existence of periodic solutions [2, 7, 15].

In [16] the authors construct the Green's function related to the linear operator x'(t) + mx(t) + Mx([t]) from where they obtain some maximum principles in the space of periodic solutions depending on the values of the real parameters *m* and *M*. These operators were also studied with initial value conditions in [17]. In [18], the method of lower and upper solutions was used to derive from the existence of periodic solutions of a first order nonlinear DEPCA. This technique, as well as the technique of weakly coupled lower and upper solutions, is used in [19] to deduce the existence results of a first order nonlinear boundary value problem of involving a differential equation with continuous delay. The arguments merge the techniques used for equations in [19] with the continuous delay produced for linear first order piecewise equations in [16].

In [12], the following problem has been considered.

$$y'(t) = f(t, y[t - k]), t \neq n, t \in J,$$

 $\Delta y(n^+) = I_n(y(n)), n = 1, 2, ..., p, y(0) = y(T).$

Using the method of upper and lower solutions, it is expressed in [20] that at least one solution is present. However, in [13] the existence and uniqueness of the initial value problem solutions have been proved

$$x'(t) = f(x(t), x(g(t))), x(0) = x_0,$$

and they also studied the oscillation and stability cases in which *f* is a continuous function and *g*: $[0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, \infty)$, $g(t) \le t$ is a step function.

1.3 Problem Statement

There are many phenomena related to piecewise constant variations that are often seen in the real world. These phenomena may often be modeled by piecewise constant systems with corresponding to differential equations containing piecewise constant arguments. Accordingly, many studies have been conducted on DEPCAs, but the results for the first order nonlinear differential equations with piecewise constant are limited. In addition, the solutions for DEPCAs are unique and not easy to be analyzed or solved.

In this study, to solve first order differential equation with piecewise constant argument. There are two forms of differential equation with piecewise constant argument having the forms;

(a)
$$x'(t) = x(t) \cdot g(x([t]))$$
 (1.1)

(b)
$$x'(t) = x^{n}(t) \cdot g(x([t])), \quad n \neq 1$$
 (1.2)

where g is continuous and [t] is the greatest-integer function.

We define a solution of equation (1.1) and (1.2) as continuous function satisfying the equation within the intervals of the argument constancy. Then, we describe existence condition and solve equation. Lastly, we also give the properties of equations having only periodic solutions.

1.4 Research Objective

- a) To give uniqueness condition for equations (1.1) and (1.2)
- b) To solve the equations of (1.1) and (1.2) for some class functions g.
- c) To define existence conditions of periodic solution of (1.1) and (1.2)

1.5 Scope of Study

The research will focus on first order nonlinear DEPCA governed by the differential in the form of equations (1.1) and (1.2). The mathematical approaches are based on the DEPCAs of simple forms, especially in the form of [t] to which a continuous system is considered directly over a unit time interval. Also, the scope of the study will be focused on existence conditions equations (1.1), (1.2) and solving both equations for some class functions of g.

1.6 Significance of the Study

The outcome of the dissertation clearly explained the solution of first order differential equation and solution of Bernoulli type equation. Researchers can use the solution that has been developed to solve problems involving differential equation with piecewise constant argument. In addition, the examples produced also help the researcher to understand the concept of piecewise constant argument in more detail. Last but not least, this study will contribute to a new knowledge of theoretical in first order differential equations with piecewise constant arguments.

1.7 Research Methodology

The research begins by studying a brief reviews of DEPCAs from previous researchers and highlighted the importance and the limitations for studying the solutions of these equations. Next, we apply the existence and uniqueness condition developed by J.Wiener and V. Lakshmikantham [17] to solve the both types equations. Then, we also give the properties of equations having only periodic solutions. Lastly, some numerical solutions for both types equations are given. The research methodology is summarized in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 Research Methodology

1.8 Dissertation Organization

This dissertation is organized into five chapters. Chapter 1 contains the study framework. Background of the problem, statement of the problem, objectives, scope, and significance of the study are discussed in this chapter.

Chapter 2 discusses the literature review of this research. Different works on first order DEPCA by various researchers are explained in details.

In Chapter 3, the methodology will be discussed. This chapter introduces the sequence of the process in solving the nonlinear first order DEPCA in the form (1.1) and (1.2). The theorem and also lemma will be stated and explained in detail to extract the information in order to solve the equation. Lastly, the first objective of the project will be achieved in this chapter.

Chapter 4 shows the end result of both cases and discussions based on the solution obtained in Chapter 3.

Finally, the conclusion of the whole research is explained in Chapter 5. Also included in this chapter is future recommendation relating to the DEPCA.

REFERENCES

- 1. Altintan, D. Extension of The Logistic Equation with Piecewise Constant Argument and Population Dynamics. *M. Sc. Thesis Middle East Technical University.* 2006.
- Cooke, K.L. and Wiener, J. A Survey of Differential Equations with Piecewise Continuous Arguments. *Delay Differential Equations and Dynamics Systems*. USA: Springer-Verlag New York, Inc. 1991: 1 – 15.
- Dai, L. and Fan, L. Analytical and Numerical Approaches to Charateristics of Linear and Nonlinear Vibratory Systems Under Piecewise Discontinuous Disturbances. Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul, 2004. 9:417 - 429.
- 4. Gurcan, F. & Bozkurt, F. Global Stability in a Population Model with Piecewise Constant Arguments. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, 2009. 360(1): 334-342.
- Cooke, K.L. and Wiener, J. Retarded Differential Equations With Piecewise Constant Delays. *Journal of Mathematics Analysis and Application*, 1984. 99: 265–297.
- Shah, S.M. and Wiener, J. Advanced Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Argument Deviations. *International Journal Mathematics and Mathematics Science*, 1983. 6:671–703.
- Wiener, J. *Generalized Solution of Functional-Differential Equations*. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge. NJ, 1993.
- Song, M.H., Yang, Z.W. and Lie, M.Z. Stability of *θ* Methods for Advanced Differential Equations with Piecewise Continuous Arguments. *Comput. Math. Appl.*,2005.333:798-816.
- Liu, M.Z., Ma, S.F. and Yang, Z.W. Stability Analysis of Runge-Kutta Methods for Unbounded Retarded Differential Equations with Piecewise Continuous Arguments. *Comput. Math. Appl.*,2007.191:57-66.
- Wang, Q. Zhu, Q.Y. and Liu M.Z. Stability and Oscillations of Numerical Solutions of Differential Equations with Piecewise Continuous Arguments of Alternately and Retarded Type. *Comput. Math. Appl.*,2011.235:1542-1552.

- 11. Busenberg, S. and Cooke, K.L. Vertically Transmitted Diseases. *Models and Dynamics in: Biomathematics*. Berlin : Springer-Verlag. 1993.
- Gouzé, J. and Sari, T. A Class of Piecewise Linear Differential Equations Arising in Biological Models. *Dynamical systems : International Journal*, 2010. 17: 299–316.
- Küpper, T, and Yuang, R. On Quasi-periodic Solutions of Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Journal of Mathematics Analysis and Application*, 2002. 267: 173–193.
- Wiener, J. and Lakshmikantham, V. A Damped Oscillator with Piecewise Time Delay. *Nonlinear Studies*, 2000.7(1): 78 – 84
- Sadahisa, S. and Tadayuki, H. Dynamics of a Linear Differential System with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Dyn. Contin. Discrete Impuls. Syst.*, 2000. 7: 585 – 594.
- Cabada, A., Ferreiro J.B. and Nieto, J.J. Green's Function and Comparison Principles for First Order Periodic Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Arguments. J. Math. Appl., 2004. 291(2): 690-697
- Wiener, J and Lakshmikantham, V. Differential Equations With Piecewise Constant Argument And Impulsive Equations. *Nonlinear Studies*, 2000. 7: 60– 69.
- Zhang, F., Zhao, A. and Yan, J. Monotone Iterative Method for Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Port. Math.*, 2000. 57: 345 – 353.
- Jankowski, T. On Delay Differential with Nonlinear Boundary Condition. Bound. Value Probl., 2005. 2005(2): 201 – 214.
- Li, J. and Shen, J. Periodic boundary Value Problems of Impulsive Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Argument. J. Nat. Sci. Hunan Norm. Univ., 2002. 25:5–9.
- Ahkmet, M.U. Quasilinear Retarded Differential Equations with Functional Dependence on Piecewise Constant Argument. *Communication Pure and Appplied Analysis*, 2014. 13: 929 – 947.
- Chiu, K.-S. Periodic Solution for Nonlinear Integro-Differential Systems with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Hindawi Publishing Corporation The Scientific World Journal*, 2014. 2014(1):514584.

- Karakoc, F., Unal, A. and Bereketoglu, H. Oscillation of Nonlinear Impulsive Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Electronic Journal* of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations, 2013. 49: 1 – 12.
- Wiener, J. and Cooke, K.L. Oscillations in Systems of Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Journal of Mathematics Analysis and Applications*, 1989. 13: 221 – 239.
- Huang, Y. K. Oscillation and Asymptotic Stability of Solutions of First Order Neutral Differential Equations with Piecewise Constant Argument. Journal of Mathematics Analysis and Applications, 1990. 149: 70 – 85.
- 26. May, R. Biological Populations Obeying Difference Equations: Stable points Stable Cycles and Chaos. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 1975. 51: 511-524.
- 27. May, R. & Oster, G. Bifurcations and Dynamics Complexity in Simple Ecological Models. *The American Naturalist*, 1976. 110: 573-599.
- Allen, L. An Introduction to Mathematical Biology. Pearson Prentice Hall, NJ. 2007
- 29. Hoppensteadt, F.C. Cambridge Studies in Mathematical Biology: Mathematical Methods of Population Biology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 2004.
- 30. Rubinow, S. Introduction to Mathematical Biology. Dover Publication, NY.2002.
- 31. Cooke, K. and Huang, W. In: Fink, A., Miller, R. and Kleman, W. (Eds.), A Theorem of George Seifert and an equation with State-Dependent Delay, *Delay* and Differential Equations, World Scientific, Ames, Iowa, 1991. 65-77.
- 32. Gopalsamy, K. and Liu, P. Persistence and Global Stability in a Population Model. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, 1998. 224: 59-80.
- Bozkurt, F and Ozturk, I. A population Model of Two-Strains Tumors with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Kuwait J. Sci.*, 2015. 42(2):1 – 13.
- Karakoc, F. Asymptotic Behaviour of a Population Model with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Applied Mathematics Letters*, 2017. 70: 7 – 13.
- Nazarenko, V.G. Influence of Delay on Auto-Oscillation in Cell Populations. *Biofifika*, 1976. 21(2):352 – 356.
- 36. Dai, L. Nonliear Dynamics of Piecewise Constant Systems and Implementation of Piecewise Constant Argument. Singapore: World Scientific, 2008.

- Liu, P. and Gopalsamy, K. Global Stability and Chaos in a Population Model with Piecewise Constant Arguments. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*. 1999. 101:63-88.
- Akhmet, M. and Yilmaz, E. Neural Network with Discontinuous/Impact Activations, Nonlinear Systems and Complexity. Springer Science + Bussiness Media, New York, 2014.
- Sun, Y.G., Saker, S.H. Positive Periodic Solutions of Discrete Three-Level Food-Chain Model of Holling Type II. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, 2006. 180:353-365.
- Holling, C. S. The Functional Response of Predators to Prey Density and Its Role in Mimiery and Population Regulation. *Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada*, 1963. 45:3–60.
- Dai, L and Shah M.S. A New Approach with Piecewise-Constant Arguments to Approximate and Numerical Solutions of Oscillatory Problems. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 2003. 263: 535-548.
- Bereketoglu, H., and Oztepe, G. S. Convergence of the Solution of An Impulsive Differential Equation with Piecewise Constant Argument. *Miskolc University Press*, 2013. 14(3):801-815.
- 43. Cavalli, F. A Model of Monopoly with Lags in The Planning and Production Activity. *Dems Working Paper Series No. 326*,2016.
- 44. Puu, T. The Chaotic Monopolist. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals*, 1995. 5:35-44.
- 45. Naimzada, A. and Ricchiuti, G. Complex Dynamics in a Monopoly with a Rule of Thumb. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, 2008. 203:921-925.
- 46. Matsumoto, A and Szidarovszky, F. Nonlinear Delay Monopoly with Bounded Rationality. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals*, 2012. 45:507-519.
- Askar, S.S. On Complex Dynamics of Monopoly Market. *Economic Modelling*, 2013. 31:586 589.
- 48. Matsumoto, A. and Szidarovszky, F. Complex Dynamics of Monopolies with Gradient Adjustment. *Economic Modelling*, 2014. 42:220 229.
- Al-Hdaibat, B., Govaerts, W. and Neirynck, N. On Periodic and Chaotic Behavior in A Two-Dimensional Monopoly Model. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals*, 2015. 70:27 – 37.